**RECEIVED**

**Sep 02 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from York County

Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JONATHAN KEITH BASS,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000703

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

### **I.**

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to quash the indictment where the overbroad indictment failed to provide Appellant with sufficient notice what was being called upon to defend against?

### **II.**

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal were the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that the decedent was a vulnerable adult?

### **III.**

Whether the trial court erred in allowing the state to enter statements of the alleged victim who died prior to trial in violation of Appellant's right to confrontation?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted during the January 2024 term of the York County grand jury for one count of exploitation of a vulnerable adult. R. (Indictment). The state, represented by T. Matthew Hogge and Peri E. Imler, called the case to trial on February 20, 2024, before the Honorable William A. McKinnon and a jury. Appellant was represented by Zachary M. Merritt and Joshua R. Brown. Tr. 1. After a four-day trial, Appellant was found guilty. Tr. 599, ll. 22-25. Judge McKinnon sentence Appellant to five years' incarceration. S. Tr. 3, ll. 12-14.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Elizabeth Davidson (Decedent) was sixty-six (66) years old at the time of her death. Tr. 327, ll. 1-3. By all accounts, decedent lived a very modest life. Tr. 94, ll. 14-19; Tr. 366, ll. 14-18. When she passed, decedent owned a furnished mobile home, a Kia Soul, and some land in Florida. Tr. 385, l. 18-386, l. 5. Decedent had also amassed approximately \$750,000 in an individual retirement account and an individual brokerage account managed by Edward Jones (Accounts). Tr. 94, l. 20-95, l. 13. Her will named Hayley Perez as the sole beneficiary of the mobile home, including its contents, the Kia, and the Florida land. Tr. 239, l. 5-240, l. 5. The accounts listed Jonathan Bass, Appellant, as the sole heir.<sup>1</sup> Tr. 117, ll. 1-6.

Decedent had worked as a mechanic at Tyco until late 2017 when she was let go as part of a mass layoff. By March of 2018, the decedent had decided to permanently retire. Tr. 94, ll. 3-95, l. 2. She met with her Edward Jones financial advisor, Candice Hendry, between 2014-2020 to change the beneficiaries to her accounts. In 2014, the first person to be named beneficiary of the accounts was Lisa Gardner. In mid-2016, the beneficiary was changed from Lisa Gardner to Sonya Collins. In August of 2018, decedent again changed her beneficiary, this time to Appellant with Hayley Perez listed as the contingent beneficiary. Tr. 94, l. 3-97, ll. 23. In November of 2019, decedent changed the beneficiary with eighty (80) percent going to Perez and twenty percent going to Appellant. Tr. 105, ll. 2-4. Finally, in mid-January 2020, decedent again changed her beneficiary making Appellant the sole beneficiary of the Edward Jones accounts. At that point in time, the accounts were worth approximately \$800,000. Tr. 117, ll. 1-6.

---

<sup>1</sup> The parties contested the beneficiary of the accounts in civil court. They entered into a settlement agreement wherein Perez would inherit 70% of the EJ accounts and Appellant would inherit 30%. PT Tr. 98, l. 11-99, l. 11.

Decedent also met with her estate planning attorney, Alton Hyatt, between 2004-2020 to make changes to the beneficiaries of her will. Attorney Alton Hyatt testified that his representation of decedent began in 2004 when he drafted probate documents including a power of attorney. At that time the power of attorney was listed as Roger Dale Davidson. He next changed decedent's will and other probate documents in 2012, making the beneficiary and power of attorney Lisa Gardner with Charles Gardner as the alternate. Then in 2015, decedent changed her probate documents to Sonya Collins with the alternate being Ann Long Jablonske. In February of 2018, decedent updated her will to change the alternates but left the primary beneficiary as Sonya Collins. In September of 2018, decedent changed her probate documents to Appellant as the beneficiary and power of attorney. Finally, on January 6, 2020, decedent changed her probate documents to leave everything to Hayley Perez. Decedent attempted to change her will again on January 29, 2020, but Attorney Hyatt had determined he would not change her will again in such a short period of time. He expressed that when someone wants to change their will that quickly he has myriad concerns including competency and potential undue influence. Tr. 242, l. 1-Tr. 248, l. 17.

At issue during trial were the changes in beneficiaries decedent made (and attempted to make) in the last month of her life. Regarding exploitation, the state presented testimony that decedent was upset and crying throughout the last meeting with Hendry when she changed the beneficiary to solely Appellant. While Hendry testified that the decedent was emotional (and this caused her concern), she also testified that decedent was sure of her intent and intentions in making the change to the beneficiary. Tr. 112, l. 21-115, l. 15. Hendry had, at a prior meeting in November of 2019, questioned decedent directly to see if she was being taken advantage of

and offered to call the police with decedent. However, while emotional, decedent declined. Tr. 108, l. 18-109, l. 11.

Regarding vulnerability, the state alleged that, despite a meticulously well-kept home and a lifetime of independence, decedent was a vulnerable adult because she had various common prescriptions and age-related health issues. The state presented testimony that decedent had unspecified hip and shoulder problems and that she was prescribed various medications for blood pressure, cholesterol, antidepressants, and a seizure medicine that likely treated tremors. Tr. 110, l. 18-111, l. 23; Tr. 337, l. 14-Tr. 339, l. 19. The state entered evidence of two handwritten notes found in decedent's mobile home that indicated she had a lack of appetite and pain from her shoulders. State's Exhibits 17; State's Exhibit 18. The state did not present evidence of any identifiable health conditions, diagnoses, or medical records of decedent. None of decedent's treating doctors were subpoenaed by the state to offer expert testimony on the issue of vulnerability.

## ARGUMENTS

### I.

The trial court erred in refusing to quash the indictment where the indictment failed to provide sufficient notice of what Appellant was being called upon to defend against.

#### **Standard of Review**

The trial court's factual conclusions as to the sufficiency of an indictment will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. Id. Accordingly, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings when the findings are supported by the evidence and not controlled by error of law. Id.

#### **Relevant Facts**

Appellant was indicted for exploitation of a vulnerable adult.

The body of the indictment charged,

The defendant, Jonathan Keith Bass, did between on or about January 6 to January 31, 2020, in York County, did knowingly and willfully exploit a vulnerable adult, Elizabeth Long Davidson, by causing or requiring the victim to engage in activity or labor which is improper, unlawful, or against the reasonable and rational wishes of the vulnerable adult; did make an improper, unlawful, or unauthorized use of the funds, assets, property, power of attorney, guardianship, or conservatorship of the victim and such act was performed for the profit or advantage of someone other than the victim; or did cause the victim to purchase goods or services for the profit or advantage of the seller or another person through undue influence, harassment, duress, force, coercion, or swindling by overreaching, cheating, or defrauding the vulnerable adult through cunning arts or devices that did delude the victim and cause the victim to lose money or other property, all in violation of 43-35-0085(D), Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976, as amended).

R. (Indictment). According to the state, “the entire case is about [Appellant] pressuring this vulnerable adult to change her will and her beneficiaries.” P. Tr. 15, ll. 4-5.

After selecting a jury, but prior to the jury being sworn, defense counsel moved to quash the indictment. R. (Motion to Quash). Prior to defense counsel arguing the motion, the trial court requested the state summarize its opinion of the facts of the case. P. Tr. 64, l. 4-68, l. 18. The court then confirmed “the exploitation the state is alleging is getting her to change those accounts and then getting her to change – attempting to get the will changed.” P. Tr. 69, ll. 21-24.

Defense counsel argued that under State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005), that the indictment as a notice document should sufficiently and plainly tell a defendant what he is called to defend against. However, in Appellant’s case the state had merely copied and pasted the three separate ways that exploitation could occur under the statute into a single cause of action in a run on sentence in the body of the indictment. Other than a date range, the indictment neither indicated which specific cause of exploitation Appellant was charged with nor offered any indication of what acts Appellant had engaged in that were contrary to the law. By presenting exploitation as a single run-on sentence in the indictment instead of as three distinct causes of action, the grand jury would have been able to piecemeal the evidence together finding “part of it might fit under the first part and then part of it might fit under the second part and then part of it might fit under the third part” of the exploitation causes of action to secure an indictment. Defense counsel further argued the standard was “that a reasonable person would have to be able to review the indictment and know what the defendant is called on to answer.” Defense counsel maintained no one could read the indictment and know what Appellant was called on to answer because the state did not specify a cause of action or expound upon any actions alleged to have been taken by Appellant. Finally, defense counsel noted that the evidence in the case was almost entirely hearsay. If the state was allowed to proceed on the

indictment as it stood, defense counsel would be unable to properly challenge whether the hearsay evidence was being offered for the proof of the matter asserted because the indictment did not specify what matter the state sought to prove. P. Tr. 70, l. 5-75, l. 6.

The state responded that an indictment met legal muster when it charged the crime, substantially in the language of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood. P. Tr. 75, ll. 21-24. The state continued that this case was “not easily pigeon-holed into one of the categories” of exploitation and that Appellant’s conduct “could fall under some of these or all of these.” P. Tr. 77, ll. 19-22. The state posited that if the court quashed the indictment, the state would seek an indictment with three separate counts for each separate cause of action under exploitation. The state maintained the indictment was sufficient because it cited the statute and “[w]hether or not the indictment could be made more particular is irrelevant.” P. Tr. 78, ll. 1-10.

Defense counsel argued that determining whether an indictment was sufficient depended upon the statutory offense alleged and that while the state was not required to allege every single act in the indictment, the state did have to indicate what cause of exploitation it was prosecuting Appellant under and what supported that cause of action. Defense counsel maintained that a reasonable person could not look at the indictment and know what he was called upon to defend against. The trial court stated that defense counsel was arguing that having the entire statutory language in the indictment was not sufficient for notice and that the state had “to carve out what particular language in the statute they’re accusing your client of violating.” The trial court disagreed with defense counsel. While finding the argument logical, it ruled the indictment was sufficient under the case law. P. Tr. 78, l. 17-82, l. 11.

## Discussion

As our Supreme Court recently reiterated, indictments matter. See State v. Dent, Op. No. 28289 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed July 16, 2025). While the law does not require exhaustive specificity in an indictment, it does require more than a copy and paste of statutory law that the state believes might apply. To wit: information specific enough that a reasonable person would know what they were being called upon to defend against. That did not occur in this case. The trial court erred in failing to quash the overbroad indictment.

“Definitively, an indictment is a ‘notice document.’” State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 95, 654 S.E.2d 849, 852 (Ct. App. 2007) (cleaned up). After Gentry, an indictment challenged as insufficient no longer raised a question of subject matter jurisdiction; rather, it raised a question of whether a defendant properly received notice he would be tried for a particular crime. Id., at 96, 654 S.E.2d at 852 (cleaned up). A challenge to the sufficiency of an indictment must be made before the jury is sworn. Id. citing S.C. Code Ann. § 17–19–90 (2003). If the objection is timely made, the circuit court should evaluate the sufficiency of the indictment by determining whether (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense intended to be charged. Id. at 96-97, 654 S.E.2d at 853-53 (cleaned up).

In determining whether an indictment meets the sufficiency standard, the trial court must look at the indictment with a practical eye in view of all the surrounding circumstances. Id. at 97, 654 S.E.2d at 853. (cleaned up). Accordingly, the sufficiency of an indictment is examined

objectively, from the viewpoint of a reasonable person, and not from the subjective viewpoint of a particular defendant. Id. Further, whether the indictment could be more definite or certain is irrelevant. Id. As repeatedly noted by our appellate courts:

An indictment is sufficient if the offense is stated with [enough] certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon. The true test of the sufficiency of an indictment is not whether it could be made more definite and certain, but whether it contains the necessary elements of the offense intended to be charged and sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet.

Id. at 97-98, 654 S.E.2d at 853 (cleaned up). Therefore, an indictment passes legal muster when it charges the crime substantially in the language of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood. Id. at 98, 654 S.E.2d at 853 (cleaned up). An indictment is a critical document that must state the charged offense with particularity, apprising a defendant of the elements of that offense. Dent, supra.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-10(c), exploitation of a vulnerable adult can occur in three distinct ways:

- (a) causing or requiring a vulnerable adult to engage in activity or labor which is improper, unlawful, or against the reasonable and rational wishes of the vulnerable adult. Exploitation does not include requiring a vulnerable adult to participate in an activity or labor which is a part of a written plan of care or which is prescribed or authorized by a licensed physician attending the patient;
- (b) an improper, unlawful, or unauthorized use of the funds, assets, property, power of attorney, guardianship, or conservatorship of a vulnerable adult by a person for the profit or advantage of that person or another person; **or**
- (c) causing a vulnerable adult to purchase goods or services for the profit or advantage of the seller or another person through: (i) undue influence, (ii) harassment, (iii) duress, (iv) force, (v) coercion, or (vi) swindling by overreaching, cheating, or defrauding the vulnerable adult through cunning arts or devices that delude the vulnerable adult and cause him to lose money or other property.

These are three distinct and separate causes of action that have different elements and require different proof. However, the state copied the definitional language of the code section into a single-count, run-on sentence indictment, creating a single cause of action where three existed. This overbroad indictment was problematic for several reasons.

First, the state secured the indictment by presenting its evidence to the grand jury, and subsequently the trial jury, as general proof of exploitation. Instead of having to show that each element of each cause of action was present, the state was able to show that some of Appellant's conduct "could fall under some of these or all of these," and thus secure an indictment. For example, the state presented testimony that decedent said "undue influence" when discussing her will with Attorney Hyatt. However, the state never presented evidence that decedent had been caused to purchase goods or services for the profit or advantage of himself or another. Thus, proof of the "undue influence" element in section (c) was presented to the grand jury, and an indictment returned, even though no evidence of the other elements of section (c) was presented. As defense counsel argued, the state was piecemealing together conduct under each separate cause of action to prove a general form of exploitation.

Second, other than the definitional language of the statute and a date range, the indictment offered no notice as to what Appellant was expected to defend against. The indictment merely alleged the three ways that exploitation could occur, without specificizing any actions or conduct by Appellant that were contrary to the law. The state, because the case could not be "pigeon-holed" into one section, felt it did not need to offer any further specifics. However, a reasonable person could not look at the indictment and know what they were being called upon to defend against. Looking at the face of the indictment Appellant and defense counsel would have ascertained that they were defending against actions that occurred between

January 6-31, 2020. However, they were left to puzzle out what “activity or labor” Appellant had caused decedent to engage in against her wishes, or what “improper, unlawful, or unauthorized uses” of “funds, assets, property, power of attorney, guardianship or conservatorship” Appellant had undertaken, or what “goods and services” were procured through “undue influence, harassment, duress, force, coercion, or swindling by overreaching, cheating or defrauding” by Appellant. Not separating the indictment properly into separate counts, and not indicating what portions of each code section that Appellant was alleged to have violated, created an extremely vague and overbroad indictment that did not provide notice to Appellant of what he was defending against.

Third, most evidence in this case came in through hearsay. As defense counsel noted, the broadness and vagueness of the indictment presented special challenges in Appellant’s case. Without further specific or information, defense counsel’s ability to properly challenge whether the hearsay evidence was being offered for the proof of the matter asserted was significantly impaired because the indictment did not specify what matter the state sought to prove.

It should also be noted that at the direct verdict stage the court informed the state it did not see evidence of sections (b) and (c) and would therefore not charge the jury on those sections. While the jury was not charged with the inapplicable law, it was presented with evidence, such as the “undue influence” that was not relevant to what the state actually ended up prosecuting appellant for: purportedly causing decedent to engage in the activity or labor of changing her beneficiary against her rationale wishes. Again, much like the grand jury, the trial jury was presented with evidence that went to elements ultimately not before them but used by the state to prove generalized exploitation.

Looking at the indictment with a practical eye in view of all the surrounding circumstances, and from the viewpoint of an objectively reasonable person, the indictment in this case failed to prove Appellant with adequate notice of what he was called upon to defend against. The state did not charge the offense properly, as three separate counts with different elements and proof, but as a single charge with no particularity. Appellant had no notice of which portions of the three sections of exploitation the state sought to convict him of and instead prepared a shotgun defense for a shotgun prosecution. The indictment in this matter did not sufficiently apprise the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet and the trial court should have quashed the indictment.

## II.

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