**RECEIVED**

**Mar 05 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
The Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000703

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JONATHAN KEITH BASS,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3747

KEVIN S. BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675 York Hwy.  
York, SC 29745  
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### **1. The trial court properly refused to quash the indictment because it provided sufficient notice of what Appellant was being called upon to defend against.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in refusing to quash the indictment. Specifically, Appellant argues the indictment failed to provide sufficient notice of what Appellant was being called upon to defend. This argument lacks merit because the indictment provided sufficient notice.

The trial court's factual conclusions as to the sufficiency of an indictment will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. Id. Accordingly, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings when the findings are supported by the evidence and not controlled by error of law. Id.

Appellant was indicted for exploitation of a vulnerable adult. The body of the indictment charged:

The defendant, Jonathan Keith Bass, did between on or about January 6 to January 31, 2020, in York County, did knowingly and willfully exploit a vulnerable adult, Elizabeth Long Davidson, by causing or requiring the victim to engage in activity or labor which is improper, unlawful, or against the reasonable and rational wishes of the vulnerable adult; did make an improper, unlawful or unauthorized use of the funds, assets, property, power of attorney, guardianship, or conservatorship of the victim and such act was performed for the profit or advantage of someone other than the victim; or did cause the victim to purchase goods or services for the profit or advantage of the seller or another person through undue influence, harassment, duress, force, coercion, or swindling by overreaching, cheating, or defrauding the vulnerable adult through cunning arts or devices that did delude the victim and cause the victim to lose money or other property, all in violation of 43-35-0085(D), Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976, as amended).

After selecting a jury, but prior to being sworn Appellant made a motion to quash the indictment. (R. 63). The trial judge asked the State to give a summary of the State's case. (R. 64). After the summary was provided, the trial court confirmed the State's case, stating "so the state's allegation—the exploitation the state is alleging is getting her to change those accounts and then getting her to change—attempting to get the will changed." (R. 64-69).

Defense Counsel argued that under State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005), that the indictment as a notice document should sufficiently and plainly tell a defendant what he is called to defendant against. Appellant argued that the State merely copied and pasted the three separate ways that exploitation could occur under the statute into a single cause of action in a run on sentence in the body of the indictment. (R. 72-74). Appellant argued other than the date range, the indictment neither indicated which specific cause of exploitation Appellant was charged with nor offered any indication of what acts Appellant had engaged in that were contrary to the law. (R. 72-74). Appellant further argued by making it a run on sentence it allowed the grand jury to piece the evidence together finding that part of it may fit under the first part and part under another part to secure an indictment. (R. 72-74).

The State responded citing State v. Shoemaker, 276 S.C. 86, 275 S.E.2d 878 (1981), that an indictment met legal muster when it charged the crime substantially in the language of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood. (R. 76). The State continued by saying that this case was "not easily pigeon-holed into one of the categories" of exploitation and that Appellant's conduct "could fall under some of these or all of these." (R. 77). The State argued that if the Court quashed the indictment, the State would seek an indictment with three separate counts for each separate cause of action under exploitation. The State maintained the indictment was sufficient because it cited the statute and whether the

indictment could be made more particular was irrelevant. (R. 78). Defense counsel continued to argue that the State had to elect in the indictment one of the three methods of proving their case. (R. 78-81). The trial court found Defense Counsel's argument inconsistent with State v. Tumbleston<sup>2</sup> and denied the motion to quash the indictment.

In South Carolina, an indictment issued by a grand jury is generally required before an individual can be held to answer in any court for a criminal offense. See S.C. Const. art. I, § 11 (“No person may be held to answer for any crime the jurisdiction over which is not within the magistrate’s court, unless on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury of the county where the crime has been committed, except in cases arising in the land or naval forces or in the militia when in actual service in time of war or public danger.”); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-10 (“No person shall be held to answer in any court for an alleged crime or offense, unless upon indictment by a grand jury, except [under certain circumstances].”). Generally speaking, an indictment is a notice document, and its “primary purpose” is “to put the defendant on notice of what he is called upon to answer, *i.e.*, to [apprise] him of the elements of the offense and to allow him to decide whether to ple[a]d guilty or stand trial.” State v. Smalls, 364 S.C. 343, 346-347, 613 S.E.2d 754, 756 (2005) (citation and internal quotations omitted); see State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 102, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005) (“The indictment is a notice document.”).

When evaluating an indictment, one shall be considered sufficient if “the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer, and acquittal or conviction to be placed in bar to any subsequent conviction.” State v. Crenshaw, 274 S.C. 475, 477, 266 S.E.2d 61, 62 (1980); see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (“Every indictment shall be deemed and judged sufficient

---

<sup>2</sup> State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 654 S.E.2d 849 (Ct. App. 2007).

and good in law which, in addition to allegations as to time and place, as required by law, charges the crime substantially in the language of the common law or of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood and, if the offense be a statutory offense, that the offense be alleged to be contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.”). Importantly, “the true test of an indictment’s validity is not whether it could be made more definite and certain, but whether it contains the necessary elements of the offense intended to be charged and sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet.” State v. Smalls, 336 S.C. 301, 307, 519 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 1999); see Gentry, 363 S.C. at 103, 610 S.E.2d at 500 (“[W]hether the indictment could be more definite or certain *is irrelevant*.” (emphasis added)).

When a timely and proper challenge to the sufficiency of an indictment has been raised, what the trial judge is called upon to determine is: (1) whether the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce upon conviction and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and be able to make a decision as to whether to plead guilty or stand trial; and (2) whether the defendant is apprised of the elements of the offense intended to be charged. State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 96-97, 654 S.E.2d 849, 852 (Ct. App. 2007). In making such a determination, the trial judge must look to the indictment with a practical eye and examine the circumstances that existed prior to trial in order to determine whether the defendant was prejudiced in the sense that defendant was taken by surprise and unable to combat the charges against him due to the indictment. State v. Wade, 306 S.C. 79, 86, 409 S.E.2d 780, 784 (1991). If an indictment satisfies the requisite conditions and, thus, is facially valid, the trial judge should deny the defendant’s motion to quash. State v. Williams, 301 S.C. 369, 371, 392 S.E.2d 181, 182 (1990).

In this case, Appellant was charged with exploitation of a vulnerable adult. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-10(3) Exploitation means:

- (a) Causing or requiring a vulnerable adult to engage in activity or labor which is improper, unlawful, or against the reasonable and rational wishes of the vulnerable adult.
- (b) An improper, unlawful, or unauthorized use of the funds, assets, property, power of attorney, guardianship or conservatorship of a vulnerable adult by a person for the profit or advantage of that person or another person; or
- (c) Causing a vulnerable adult to purchase goods or services for the profit or advantage of the seller or another person through: (i) undue influence, (ii) harassment, (iii) duress, (iv) force, (v) coercion, or (vi) swindling by overreaching, cheating, or defrauding the vulnerable adult through cunning arts or devices that delude the vulnerable adult and cause him to lose money or other property.

Viewing the exploitation of a vulnerable adult indictment in Appellant's case with practicality in mind, it both directly named Appellant's offense and identified the relevant statutory provision—43-35-0085(D)—to unmistakably delineate the exact crime being charged. Crenshaw, 274 S.C. at 477, 266 S.E.2d at 62. Likewise, it expressly used the terms contained in the applicable statute to identify the elements of the charged offense. See State v. Jacobs, 238 S.C. 234, 243, 119 S.E.2d 735, 739-740 (1961) (“An indictment is ordinarily sufficient if it is in the language of the statute.”). Therefore, through its language, the indictment identified the indicted offense with sufficient certainty and particularity to alert Appellant and the trial judge of the exact offense for which Appellant was charged—exploitation of a vulnerable adult. Cf. Crenshaw, 274 S.C. at 477, 266 S.E.2d at 62 (“As the indictment bears the specific code section on its face and there was lengthy discussion concerning that code section throughout the trial, appellants obviously knew for what crime they were being prosecuted.”). By doing so, the indictment was sufficient to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce in the event of conviction and to make Appellant aware of the offense's statutory elements and terms. See State v. Solomon, 245 S.C. 550, 562, 141 S.E.2d 818, 825 (1965). (“The indictment was phrased in substantially the language of [the

pertinent statute], which created and defined the offense, and an indictment so phrased is ordinarily sufficient.”).

The indictment listed the different definitions in the definition section of what exploitation could mean. Section 43-35-10(c) S.C. Code Ann. It further listed between the dates of January 6, 2020-January 31, 2020. Therefore, through its inclusion of both the terms of the statute *and* the identified time period in question, the indictment fairly alerted Appellant of exactly how he was alleged to have violated the statute, which ensured he had fair notice of what he was being called upon to answer. See Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 98, 654 S.E.2d at 853 (“[A]n indictment passes legal muster when it charges the crime substantially in the language of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood.”).

For these reasons, the indictment—when viewed with a practical eye as required—contained sufficient detail to comply with the requirements necessary for facial sufficiency, and, thus, it carried out its purpose as a “notice document” in Appellant’s case. Gentry, 363 S.C. at 102, 610 S.E.2d at 500; see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (identifying the information that must be included before an indictment “shall be deemed and judged sufficient and good in law”); United States v. Bates, 96 F.3d 964, 970 (7th Cir. 1996) (“Facial sufficiency is not a high hurdle.”); State v. Shoemaker, 276 S.C. 86, 88, 275 S.E.2d 878, 879 (1981) (concluding an indictment was sufficient where it fulfilled its purpose under the circumstances of the case). Further, State v. Lewis held that even if an indictment is questionable, further specificity is available by reviewing the discovery materials. State v. Lewis, 434 S.C. 158, 172, 863 S.E.2d 1, 9 (2021). “One is to look at the ‘surrounding circumstances’ that existed pre-trial, in order to determine whether a given defendant was prejudiced, i.e., taken by surprise and hence unable to combat the charges against him.” State v. Lewis, 434 S.C. 158, 172, 863 S.E.2d 1, 9 (2021) (quoting State v. Baker, 411 S.C.

583, 589, 769 S.E.2d 860, 864 (2015)). Here, Appellant was given the indictment, discovery for the case, and a pretrial summary of the State's case. It is clear from the record that Appellant was not surprised and certainly not ambushed at trial by the allegations against him. During the pretrial summary given by the State, counsel for Appellant did not object or seemed shocked by the summary and even clarified and gave extra details during the summary. (R. 64-69). Therefore, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to quash exploitation of a vulnerable adult, and there is no proper basis upon which to disturb that ruling on appeal. See Williams, 301 S.C. at 371, 392 S.E.2d at 182 (recognizing a trial judge properly denies a motion to quash an indictment when it contains "no facial defect"). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

**2. The trial court properly refused to grant a directed verdict because there was evidence in the record that Decedent was a vulnerable adult.**

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict for Appellant based upon the fact that the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that the decedent was a vulnerable adult. This argument lacks merit because there is evidence in the record to show that decedent was a vulnerable adult and properly was sent to the jury.

"In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In an appeal of a ruling involving a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence in a criminal case, the appellate court must necessarily apply the same standard that should have been applied by the trial judge and view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 371-372, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012). "In reviewing a refusal to grant a directed verdict, we must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and determine whether there is any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that reasonably tends to prove the defendant's guilt or from which his guilt may be logically deduced." State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 348, 529 S.E.2d 526,

527 (2000). On a motion for a directed verdict in a criminal case, the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 633, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004); State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 190, 562 S.E.2d 320, 323 (Ct. App. 2002). If the State presents any evidence which reasonably tends to prove the defendant's guilt, or from which the defendant's guilt could be fairly and logically deduced, the case must go to a jury. Id. The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling or if the ruling is based on an error of law. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002); State v. Dantonio, 376 S.C. 594, 603, 658 S.E.2d 337, 342 (Ct. App. 2008).

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